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Larenzo Gabourel, a federal prisoner proceeding pro se, seeks a certiﬁcateof
appealability (“COA”) to appeal the district court’s denial of his motion to vacate, set
aside, or correct his sentence under 28 U.S.C. § 2255.! See 28 U.S.C. § 2253(0)(1)(B)
(requiring a COA to appeal an order denying a § 2255 motion). Exercising jurisdiction
under 28 U.S.C. §§ i291 and 2253(a), we deny Mr. Gabourel’s request for a COA and

dismiss this matter.

" This order is not binding precedent except under the doctrines of law of the case,
res judicata, and collateral estoppel. It may be cited, however, for its persuasive value
consistent with Fed. R. App. P. 32.1 and 10th Cir. R. 32.1.

! Because Mr. Gabourel is proceeding pro se, we construe his filings liberally, but
do not serve as his advocate. See Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007) (per
curiam); James v. Wadqs 724 F.3d 1312, 1315 (10th Cir. 2013).



[. BACKGROUND
A. Underlying Criminal Case

A fedelral grand jury indicted Mr. Gabourel for (1) conspirapyltp possess with '
intent to distribute phencyclidine (“PCP”), (2) possession of PCP with intent to distribute
(or aidiﬁg and abetting the 'same) and (3) possessing a firearm in furtherance of a drug
Lrafﬁckmg cfxrm A jury found him guilty of all char ges The dlstr1ct court sentenced
. htm to 180 rnonths in prlson See Unzted States V. Gabourel 692 F. App x 529, 533 34
(IOth Cu 2017) (unpubhshed)

On dnwt appeal, Mr. Gabourel argued the evidence was insufficient to support his
convictions. /d. at 531. In June 2017, we affirmed, noting that “Mr. Gabourel ha[d]
failed to show that no rational juror could have convicted him of” the charged offenses
based on the evidence adduced at trial: id. at 549.

B. Section 2255 Motion
. In July 2022, Mr. Gabourel'moved for relief under § 2255 claiming he had
obtained new exculpatory evidence: Mr. Alvin Norman’s swort statement dated J unuary
17, 2022 “attesting to [Mr. Gabourel’s] alleged innocence of all charges and explaining
[Mr. Gaboure!l’s] presence at the apartment where PCP was kept and his association with

the codefendanis selling PCP.”. ROA, Vol. IV at 103.> Mr. Norman was a codetendant

~ 2 Although Mr. Gabourel filed his motion well beyond the one-year statute of
limitation in 28 U.S.C. § 2255(£)(1), he relies on § 2255()(4) to toll the deadline based
on when he could have discovered his new evidence. The Government has not
challenged the timeliness of his § 2255 motion.
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and "ha,(‘:i"ﬂed brdseéutjilon. Hé was a fugitive at the time of Mr. Gabourel’s trial. He later
pled guilty to a drug distribution charge. /d. at 102, 104.

The district court denied Mr. Gabourel’s § 2255 motion because (1) he “assert[ed]
orﬂy a freestanding claimn of actual innocence, which can,nof provide a substantive basis
for relief from his convictions,™id. at 105; and (2) his new evidence failed to establish -
actual innocence, id. at'105-06. The court also denied Mr. Gabourel a COA. Id. at'107.

II. DISCUSSION
A fedéfél prisoner must obtaiit a COA to appeal a denial'pf habeaé relief. .
28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1)(B). A COA requires “a substantial showing of the denial of a
coristitutiona.] right.” 28 U.S.C. § 2253(¢)(2). The movant must demonstrate “that jurists
of reason could disagree with the district court’s resolution of his constitutional claims or
that jurists could conclude the issues presented are adequate to deserve encouragement to
pfoceed further.” Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322,327 (2003).

-Mr. Gabourel argues that new evidence deménstrating actual innocence entitles
him to relief.: Actual innocence may allow habeas review of proced.urailybbarred '
constitutional claims, but neither the Supreme Court nor this court has recognized it as a
freestanding ground for relief. In Herrera v. Collins, 506.U.S. 390 (1993), the Supreme
Court held that “a claim of ‘actual insocence’ is not itself-a constitutional claim, but
instead a gateway through which a habeas petitioner must pass to have his otherwise
barred ‘constitutional claim consideréd on the merits.” Id. at 404; see LaFevers v. Gibson,
238 F.3d 1263;1265 n:4 (10th Cir. 2001) (“[A]n assertion of actual innccence, although

operating as a potential pathway for reaching otherwise defaulted constitutional claims,
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Mr. Gabourel has not shown that jurisfs of reason could disagree with the district

court’s denial of his § 2255 motion.*

III. CONCLUSION

We deny Mr. Gabourel’s application for a COA and dismiss this matter.

Entered for the Court

Scott M. Matheson, Jr.
Circuit Judge

4 Mr. Gabourel asserts the district court erred in not holding an evidentiary hearing
under 28 U.S.C. § 2255(b), which provides that a district court must hold an evidentiary
hearing on a § 2255 moticn “[u]nless the motion and the files and records of the case
conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief.” Because a district court’s
denial of an evidentiary hearing would be reviewed for abuse of discretion during a
merits appeal, the Supreme Court has accepted a formulation of “the COA question” as
“whether a reasonable jurist could conclude that the District Court abused its discretion.’
BRuck v. Davis, 580 U.S. 100, 123 (2017) (citation omitted). Where, as here, a habeas
claim is capable of being resolved on the existing record, there is no entitlement to an
evidentiary hearing. See Torres v. Mullin, 317 F.3d 1145, 1161 (10th Cir. 2003). A
reasonable jurist could not conclude the district court abused its discretion in not holding
an evidentiary hearing. We decline to grant a COA on this issue.

]
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
| )
_ Plaintiff, )
v. ) Case No. CR-15-172-D
) (Case No. CIV-22-598-D)
LARENZO GABOUREL, )
| )
Defendant. )
 JUDGMENT

Pursuant to the Order denying Defendant’s Motion Under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to
Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence, the Court enters judgment in favor of the United
States of America. Further, a certificate of appealability is denied.

Entered this 37 day of November, 2022.

{

TIMOTHY D. DeGIUSTI
Chief United States District Judge
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Plaintiff, )
V. ) Case No. CR-15-172-D
) (Case No. CIV-22-598-D)
LARENZO GABOUREL, )
)
Defendant. )

ORDER

Be.fore the Court is Defendant’s pro se Motion Under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to Vacate,
Set Aside or Correct Sentence [Doc. No. 301], which is accompanied by a supporting brief
and evidentiary materials [Doc. No. 302]. At the Court’s direction, the government has
filed a response [Doc. No. 307]; its position is that the Motion fails to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted. Defendant hés filed a reply brief [Doc. No. 308], which is
considered. For the reasons that follow, the Court finds that no hearing is needed and the
Motion should be denied.!

Factual and Procedural Background

In August 2015, a grand jury charged Defendant and three others with conspiracy
to possess with intent to distribute phencyclidine (PCP) in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846.
Defendant was also charged with one count of possessing with intent to distribute PCP in

violation of 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), or aiding and abetting this offense, and one count of

' No evidentiary hearing is needed where a defendant’s allegations, if proved,
would not entitle him to relief. See United States v. Herring, 935 F.3d 1102, 1107 (10th
Cir. 2019); 28 U.S.C. § 2255(b).
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possessing a firearm in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 924(c)(1)(A)(i). The statutory penalty for each of the drug charges was a mandatory
minimum prison term of ten years, and the penalfy for the firearm offense was a mandatory
minimum prison term of five years to be served consecutively to any other term of
imprisonment.
Following a James? hearing and the resolution of pretrial motions, Defendant and
© one codefendar_lt, Wesley Tavion Grant, proceeded Ito trial in January 2016. Another
: cddefehdanf, Paul Thomas, reached a plea agreement and testified for the prosecution.
The third codefendant, Alvin Norman, was not arrested before the triai; he later pleaded
guilty in November 2016 to a drug distribution charge. At trial, the jury found Defendant
and Mr. Grant guilty of all offenses charged against them in the Indictment. In July 2016,
the Court imposed Defendant’s prison sentence of 180 months, consisting of concurrent
120-month terms as to each drug offense and a consecutive 60-month term as to the firearm
offense. Mr. Grant received a mandatory life sentence based on a criminal history that
included two prior felony drug offenses. Both defendants appealed, and their convictions
and sentences were affirmed in a single opinion. See United States v. Gabourel, 629 F.
App’x 529 (10th Cir. 2017).
The instant § 2255 Motion was filed July 8, 2022.> The filing date falls well after

the one-year time limit for a § 2255 motion, measured from the date on which the judgment

2 United States v. James, 590 F.2d 575 (5th Cir. 1979).

3 This date is determined by the prison mailbox rule.

2
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became final. See 28 U.S.C. § 2255(f)(1). Defendant asserts that the Motion is timely
filed ﬁnder § 2255(f)(4), that is, within one year after he obtained new exculpatory
evidence. With the Motion, Defendant submits a sworn statement by Mr. Norman dated
January 17, 2022 [Doc. No. 302-1], attésting to Defendant’s alleged inﬁocence of all
charges and explaining Defendant’s presence at the apartment where PCP was kept and his
association with the codefendants selling PCP.
Defendant’s Motion
The .Motiqn aéserts a single.claim: “Petiti-qner has 'obtained"‘newly diséove;ed
vevideric‘e’ in support of his factﬁal innoceﬁce, in the form of testi}hdny fhat could not have
been discovered with the exercise of diligence.” Sée Mot. at 4. In response, the
government challenges the sufficiency of this claim to obtain relief under § 2255, which
provides a remedy when a federal criminal sentence “was imposed in violation of the
Constitution or laws of the United States.” See 28 U.S.C. § 2255(a). The government
asserts that “the Tenth Circuit has [not] recognizéd a freestanding claim of actual innocence
- as a basis for reliefunder § 2255.” See Resp. Br. at 1-2. Citing Supreme Court and Tenth
Circuit decisions, the government argues that “[b]ecause Mr. Gabourel has failed to raise
a constitutional claim in his habeas petition, and instead raises only the specter of actual
innocence, he has failed to state a valid basis for relief from this Court.” Id. at 6.
Discussion
“The allegations on which Defendant seeks to vacate his conviction are: 1) he has
~ consistently maintained his innocence of the offenses found by the jury, and he and other

defense witnesses so testified at his jury trial; and 2) if Mr. Norman had been available to
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testify and had presented testimony consistent with his affidavit to corroborate the defense,
this additional evidence would have created reasonable doubt about the government’s proof
and resulted in Defendant’s acquittal of all chargés. Notably, Defendant does not allege
that the ‘government was responsible in any way for Mr. Norman’s unavailability.
Defendant concedes that Mr. Norman “had fled from this prosecution” and “was a fugitive
from justice at the time” of Defendant’s trial. See Def.’s Supp. Br. at 19; Reply Br. at 3.
k | Defendant also does not allege that his trial counsel could have done anything differently
to procure Mr. Norman’s testimony or that there wés any constitutional flaw in Defendant’s
jury trial. Defendant instead asserts what caselaw refers to as a “freestanding” or
- substantive claim of actual innocence. |

This Court is bound by precedential decisions of the Tenth Circuit unless there has
been an intervening change in the law. See United States v. Doe, 865 F.3d 1295, 1298-
99 (10th Cir. 2017). Tenth Circuit law holds “that actual innocence does not constitute a
freestanding basis for habeas relief.”  Farrar v. Raemisch, 924 F.3d 1126, 1131 (10th Cir.
2019). This view is based on Supreme Court precedents:

[T]he Court has never recognized freestanding actual innocence claims as a

basis for federal habeas relief. To the contrary, the Court has repeatedly

rejected such claims, noting instead that “claims of actual innocence based

on newly discovered evidence have never been held to state a ground for

federal habeas relief absent an independent constitutional violation occurring

in the underlying state criminal proceedings.”
Id. (quoting Herrera v. Collins, 506 us 390, 400 (1993)). Accordingly, the Tenth Circuit

has been steadfast in considering an actual innocence claim only as a procedural “gateway”

to reach a substantive claim. Id. at 1130-31. It has applied these same principles in
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§ 2255 cases. See, e.g., United States v. Toki, 822 F. App’x 848, 854 (10th Cir. 2020),
vacated on other grounds sub nom., Maumau v. United States, 142 S. Ct. 57 (2021).

In this case, Defendant asserts only a freestanding claim of actual innocence, which
cannot provide a substantive basis for relief from his convictions. In his arguments,
Defendant provides no basis for this Court to deviate from established Tenth Circuit law
prohibiting post-conviction relief based solely on newly discovered evidence without any
claim that a constitutional violation or defect in his trial occurred.

. Defendah_t p_oints to § 2255 cases in which the Tenth Circuit has considered a claim
6f éctuél' inf.loce.n'c.c based on newly discovered evidence. See Reply Br. at 6 One cited
case, United States v. Cervini, 379 F.3d 987 (10th Cir. 2004), is not helpful to him. The
defendant in that case asserted a claim of actual innocence to overcome a procedural bar to
a defaulted claim of constitutional error. See id. at 991-92. In Anderson v. United
States, 443 F.2d 1226, 1227 (10th Cir. 1971), the Tenth Circuit remanded a § 2255
proceeding for a district court to consider newly discovered evidence, which had been
summarily rejected, of “a true confession by a stranger to the crime.” Although the
substantive claim is unclear, it appears that the defendant in Anderson was seeking to
overcome the untimeliness of a claim under Fed. R. Crim. P. 33 or to bring a second § 2255
motion. Notably, Anderson predates Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298 (1995), and its
framework for considering new evidence claims. |

Further, the Court is not convinced that Defendant’s new evidence regarding
~ potential testimony from Mr. Norman meets the exacting Schlup standard. The testimony

would provide additional support for a theory of defense that was fully presented at trial
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through the testimony of Defendant, another friend (Chris White), and a codefendant
(Mr. Grant). The jury heard and apparently rejected Defendant’s arguments that he was an
innocent bystander to the drug trafficking activities being carried out from the “stash
house” where he stayed (at least for a short time), where PCP was being kept and packaged
for distribution, and where he was found armed with a handgun, and that the prosecution’s
witness (Mr. Thomas) was lying about Defendant’s involvement. See Gabourel, 692 F.
App’x at 535-39 (disvcussingv vs_,ufﬁciency of trial evidence to support Defendant’s
conikicfioﬁé).' The :'stve'lte‘men.ts in Mr Noﬁhan’é afﬁdévi't mérely providej. édditionai suppio'rt
for these same arguments. \

A district court’s analysis of new evidence “is not limited to such evidence” but
“must consider all the evidence, old and new, incriminating and exculpatory,” and thereby
base its ‘probabilistic determination about what reasonable, properly instructed jurors
would do’ on the ‘total record.”” Fontenot v. Crow, 4 F.4th 982, 1052 (10th Cir. 2021),
cert. denied, 142 S. Ct. 2777 (2022) (quoting House v. Bell, 547 U.S. 518, 537 (2006)).
A.petitioner asserting a claim of actual innocence “mﬁst establish that, in light of new
evidence, ‘it is more likely than not that no reasonable juror would have found petitioner
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.””  House, 547 U.S. at 537-38 (quoting Schulp, 513 U.S.
at 327); see Fontenot, 4 F.4th at 1030. In this case, the Court finds that Defendant
presents only a speculative argument that a jury..which heard Mr. Norman’s proposed
testimony with the other trial evidence would not have found Defendant guilty of a crime

of conviction.
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Conclusion

For these reasons, the Court finds that Defendant is not entitled to § 2255 relief from
his convictions based on the allegations presented in his Motion.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant’s Motion Under 28 U.S.C.
§ 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside or Correct Sentence [Doc. No. 301] is DENIED. A separate
judgment shall be entered.

o IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that pursuant to Ru1¢ 11(a) of the Rules Governing

. Séctioﬁ 22'5'15.-‘ Proceedings, the .Court must issue Qr\lde_'ny‘ a certificate of appealabilify
| (“COA”) when it enters a final order adverse to a movant. A COA may issue only upon “a
substantial showing of the denial of a constitutional right.” See 28 U.S.C. §2253(c)(2).
“A petitioner satisfies this standard by demonstrating that jurists of reason could disagree
with the district court’s resolution of his constitutional claims or that jurists could conclude
the issues presented are adequate to deserve encouragement to proceed further.” Miller-El
v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 327 (2003); see Slack v. McDaniel, 529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000).
Upon consideration, the Court finds this standard is not met in this case. Therefore, a COA
is DENIED. |

IT IS SO ORDERED this 3" day of November, 2022.

0 Qi

TIMOTHY D. DeGIUSTI
Chief United States District Judge




